ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Oconee County

J, Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 18 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

CLARENCE CRITTENDON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. ~~2008-CP-37-1474~~ 2013-002380

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN v. STATE

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether, in a child sex abuse case, trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to call petitioner's brother who testified at PCR that the child's family had a motive to fabricate the abuse allegations?

2.

Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to ask for a speedy trial where a key witness for the defense died before trial from cancer?

STATEMENT

On March 16, 2004, an Oconee County grand jury indicted petitioner for first degree criminal sexual conduct and lewd act upon a child under the age of sixteen. App. 343-46. N. Gruber Sires originally represented petitioner on these charges. App. 182. On July 18, 2006, petitioner was reindicted for first degree criminal sexual conduct. App. 347-48. On December 11-12, 2006, petitioner was tried before the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay and a jury. App. 1. Chrissy T. Adams and Lindsey S. Simmons represented the State. App. 1. Bruce Byrholdt replaced Sires and represented petitioner at his trial. App. 1. The jury convicted petitioner. App. 172, ll. 5 – 14. Judge Macaulay sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of thirty years' imprisonment for criminal sexual conduct and fifteen years' imprisonment for lewd act. App. 179, l. 23 – 180, l. 11. Petitioner withdrew his direct appeal. App. 202.

On December 17, 2008, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 190. On October 3, 2011, the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. held a hearing on petitioner's application. App. 204. Kaelon E. May represented the State. App. 204. R. Mills Ariail, Jr. represented petitioner. On January 17, 2012, Judge Maddox denied petitioner's application. App. 270. No notice of appeal was filed.

On October 10, 2012, petitioner filed a PCR application seeking the right to a belated appeal of the denial of his 2008 application. App. 286. On September 16, 2013, the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh heard the case. App. 320. Judge McIntosh granted petitioner a belated appeal at the hearing and asked the State to prepare an order. App. 332, l. 21 – 333, l. 19. On October 31, 2013, Judge McIntosh entered a written order granting petitioner a belated appeal. App. 338. This petition, and the petition asking the Court to grant a belated appeal, follow.

ARGUMENT

1.

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to call petitioner's brother who testified at PCR that the child's family had a motive to fabricate the abuse allegations.

What the Jury Heard at Trial

Three witnesses testified for the State at petitioner's trial: the child complainant ("Child"), a police officer, and a private contractor who interviewed petitioner for the police. App. 2. The defense called no witnesses. The outcome of the trial centered on the credibility of Child's allegations. Child was in fifth grade when she testified. App. 80, ll. 24 – 25. During the summer before her second grade year, she frequently stayed with her grandmother while her mother worked.¹ App. 82, l. 9 – 83, l. 7. Petitioner lived with Grandmother. App. 83, ll. 8 – 10.

One night Child became scared after watching a scary movie with her little sister. App. 85, ll. 3 – 8. She began screaming, and Grandmother attended to her. App. 85, ll. 3 – 8. Grandmother went back to her bedroom because she had to get ready for work. App. 85, l. 23 – 86, l. 6. Petitioner stayed in the living room with Child. App. 86, ll. 1 – 6. Child laid on "a pallet down on the floor" and started watching a movie. App. 86, ll. 1 – 6. According to Child, petitioner got on the floor with her and put his penis in her mouth. App. 86, ll. 7 – 22. Child also testified that, on another occasion, petitioner performed oral sex on her even though Grandmother was also in the same bed sleeping. App. 86, l. 23 – 87, l. 10. App. 92, ll. 6 – 12. Even though Grandmother was right next to her, Child did not try to awaken her. App. 92, ll. 6 – 24.

¹ Child's testimony is somewhat confusing because she calls her grandmother "Mama." App. 82, l. 21 – 83, l. 7. This petition will refer to the grandmother as "Grandmother."

In her statement to the police, Child alleged anal sex, but denied that occurred at trial claiming that she “was confused.” App. 93, ll. 5 – 13. The following colloquy occurred on cross-examination:

Q. How many times did you talk with [the solicitor] about what you were going to say here today?

A. Two.

Q. And did she ask you the questions before that she asked you today?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Go over what you were going to say?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you ever in a play at school, have you ever been in a play or anything like that, or program at school or church?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Where they kind of rehearse things, make sure you get your song right or something like that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is that what you did here today, rehearse things with [the solicitor], kind of go over your...

A. Yeah.

App. 94, l. 17 – 95, l. 9.

The solicitor countered that she had told the child to tell the truth. App. 95, l. 25 – 96, l. 2. The solicitor also asked “And did I ever tell you how to answer the questions?” App. 96, ll. 3 – 4. Child answered, “Yes.” App. 96, l. 5. When asked what she meant by that, Child said “[W]henever they asked me a question, I wasn’t to say, like, other people’s names or stuff like that.” App. 96, ll. 7 – 9. The solicitor asked, “I told you not to talk about any other people; is that right?” App. 96, ll.

10 – 11. In a question that drew an objection for leading, the solicitor asked, “And only things that happened to you and things that – not what other people said; is that right?” App. 96, ll. 13 – 19.

The State’s next witness was police Officer Greg Reed (“Reed”). App. 97, ll. 6 – 7. Officer Reed testified that he had a forensic interview of Child performed. App. 99, ll. 7 – 16. The police officer who conducted the forensic interview did not testify. However, on cross-examination, the defense pointed out contradictions between Child’s trial testimony and her claim, made during the forensic interview, that petitioner ejaculated. App. 111, ll. 1 – 14. In response to the solicitor’s earlier specific question of whether “anything [came] out of” petitioner’s penis, Child answered, “No.” App. 86, ll. 20 – 22.

The State’s primary purpose for calling Officer Reid appeared to be showing that the police complied with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) in advising petitioner of his rights and introducing him to a private contractor, Michael Lark (“Lark”) who interviewed petitioner. App. 105, ll. 1 – 6. Lark was the State’s third witness. App. 113, ll. 9 – 10. Lark admitted that petitioner “denied any sexual molestation of [Child].” App. 115, ll. 21 – 24. However, Lark claimed petitioner said that he had a dream his wife was performing oral sex on him and when he woke up, Child was in the bed and not his wife. App. 115, l. 21 – 116, l. 8. Lark claimed petitioner “said that he couldn’t say yes or no whether or not his penis had went in [Child’s] mouth.” App. 116, ll. 5 – 8. The State rested after Lark testified. App. 121, l. 6.

The solicitor emphasized Child’s lack of motive to fabricate her allegations during her closing argument:

Look at her motive to lie. There is nothing. She didn’t tell you she hated the defendant. She pretty much told you she looked at him as her grandpa. Is her life better because she came forward and told this? This had a tremendous impact on her. It’ll impact the rest of her life. It’ll impact her family. She told you she was afraid to tell because her grandma would get mad. **There’s no motive to lie here; it does not exist.**

App. 138, ll. 13 – 21 (emphasis added). During trial counsel’s closing, he attacked Child’s credibility because her story changed. App. 143, ll. 1 – 6. Trial counsel did nothing to rebut the solicitor’s argument that Child had no motive to lie. App. 142, l. 18 – 147, l. 8, Nor could he, because he failed to present any evidence to support such an argument.

What the Jury Did Not Hear

Timothy Crittendon (“Timothy”), petitioner’s brother, testified at the PCR hearing. App. 226, ll. 6 - 12. Timothy described an argument between Child’s mother and petitioner. App. 226, l. 13 – 229, l. 3. The argument took place before petitioner’s arrest. App. 228, l. 25 – 229, l. 3. Timothy said that Child’s mother kept screaming at petitioner, “You gonna leave my mama.” App. 227, ll. 2 – 16. Timothy said that Child’s mother threatened petitioner telling him, “If you don’t leave in thirty days, then you ain’t gonna like what I’m gonna do.” App. 227, ll. 17 – 24. The police eventually came. App. 227, ll. 10 – 16.

Petitioner provided the context for this confrontation. App. 213, ll. 9 – 21. The women who came to his house and threatened him were his step-daughters. App. 213, ll. 9 – 21. Petitioner admitted he had been cheating on their mother. App. 213, l. 17 – 21. He admitted that his stepdaughters knew of his infidelities because they “had seen me somewhere.” App. 213, ll. 18 – 21. Petitioner testified that his stepdaughters gave him a “thirty-day ultimatum” to leave their mother or something would happen to him. App. 214, l. 17 – 215, l. 7.

Petitioner said three witnesses could have testified about this incident: Timothy, Timothy’s girlfriend, Tiffany Burch, and his mother-in-law, Sarah Hill (“Hill”). App. 213, l. 1 – 215, l. 10. Hill died of cancer in January 2006, before petitioner’s trial. App. 213, ll. 1 – 8. Petitioner sent letters to his original attorney, Sires, explaining the confrontation with his stepdaughters and the

possibility of these three witnesses testifying. App. 215, l. 19 – 216, l. 6. Petitioner also remembered conveying this information to trial counsel. App. 216, ll. 7 – 14.

Trial Counsel's Testimony at PCR

The State did not call petitioner's first lawyer, Sires. Trial counsel took over petitioner's case in July 2006, after petitioner's defense witness Sarah Hill died. App. 230, ll. 15 – 23. Trial counsel testified that he did not call Timothy to testify because Timothy was incarcerated at the time of trial and he did not know whether he would be a credible witness. App. 231, ll. 10 – 13. Trial counsel admitted that he originally tried to talk Timothy, but once he found out Timothy was incarcerated he made no further attempt to speak with him. App. 237, ll. 7 – 17. Trial counsel stated, "I didn't think it would be beneficial." App. 237, ll. 7 – 17. Trial counsel testified that Tiffany Burch was uncooperative. App. 231, ll. 1 – 7.

The PCR Court's Order

The PCR court did not make a specific finding that Timothy was not a credible witness; it only found that Timothy's testimony would not have been helpful. App. 278 – 79. PCR court stated that Timothy's testimony "does not provide any support to applicant's assertion that he was set-up." App. 279. The court additionally found that Timothy's testimony "would have provided nothing more for the defense." App. 279. The PCR court ultimately concluded that petitioner could not show any prejudice from the failure to call Timothy. App. 279 – 80.

Discussion

Timothy's testimony was essential to petitioner's defense. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to interview Timothy. The PCR court did not find that trial counsel acted reasonably in failing to interview Timothy, nor could it have because counsel can only make a strategic decision after a thorough investigation of the facts of the case. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22

(2003). This Court recently held that trial counsel's failure to interview an important witness was deficient performance. Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405-06, 756 S.E.2d 144, 146-47 (2014).

The PCR court erred in its prejudice analysis. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Walker provides an excellent example. In Walker, the petitioner's conviction was reversed because trial counsel failed to call an alibi witness. Walker at 405-07, 756 S.E.2d at 146-48. See also Pauling v. State, 331 S.C. 606, 610, 503 S.E.2d 468, 470-71 (1998) (applying rule of ineffectiveness in failure to call a favorable witness outside of the alibi context). The key issue at trial was the identity of the victim's assailant and the alibi witness was essential to the defense. Walker at 405-07, 756 S.E.2d at 146-48. In this case, the key issue was Child's credibility. Without Timothy, the solicitor's suggestion that Child had no motive to lie could not be rebutted. Petitioner simply had no defense without Timothy's testimony. The PCR judge in Walker found the alibi witness credible. Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147. Here, the PCR judge did not find Timothy's testimony lacked credibility. The court only found that it would not have been helpful. Even trial counsel admitted that the only defense theory was reasonable doubt and the chance of victory was "slight." App. 238, ll. 8 – 17.

Without any real defense in the case, the failure to call Timothy prejudiced petitioner because without Timothy, the defense of fabrication had no chance of success. This evidence was highly probative. See Schmidt v. State, 288 S.C. 301, 342 S.E.2d 401 (1986). In Schmidt, a child sex abuse case, the trial judge excluded defense witnesses who would testify about hard feelings between the defendant and the child's family. Id. at 302-03, 342 S.E.2d at 402. This Court reversed, finding that the defendant had the right to raise what it called the "'vendetta' issue." Id. at 303, 342 S.E.2d at 402. Because evidence of the vendetta would have established "motive, bias, and prejudice on the part of the alleged victim and her family," the Court found it "clearly

relevant.” Id. A prejudice analysis similar to Schmidt should have been conducted in this case. The PCR court therefore erred in finding no prejudice and this Court should grant certiorari with the ultimate relief of a new trial.

2.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to ask for a speedy trial where a key witness for the defense died before trial from cancer.

Relevant Facts

The alleged abuse occurred during the summer of 2003. App. 82, ll. 6 – 8. An arrest warrant for petitioner was signed on December 9, 2003. App. 43, l. 25 – 44, l. 3. Petitioner was interviewed by Officer Reed and Lark on January 21, 2004. App. 41, ll. 16 – 21. Petitioner was in custody at the time of the interview. App. 44, ll. 7 – 8. Petitioner was indicted on March 16, 2004.

Petitioner’s first attorney was N. Gruber Sires (“Sires”). App. 182. On October 29, 2004, a bond hearing was held before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. App. 182. Sires represented petitioner at this hearing. App. 182. Judge Nicholson asked the State when the case would be tried. App. 186, l. 24 – 187, l. 1. The State responded they would try to set it for the December 2004 term. App. 187, ll. 2 – 5. Petitioner and Sires agreed they would be ready for trial in December. App. 210, ll. 9 – 12. Petitioner was re-released on bond. App. 210, ll. 10 – 12.

One year and eight months later, in June 2006, petitioner was unexpectedly arrested for failing to appear. App. 208, ll. 15 – 22. It turned out that petitioner was mistakenly arrested. App. 209, ll. 15 – 25. Sires then told petitioner that he had not “looked at the case in a number of years because he thought at the same time as I did that the case no longer existed.” App. 209, ll. 1 – 9. Petitioner asked for Sires to be relieved and trial counsel began representing petitioner. App. 209, ll. 4 – 10. Petitioner testified that Sires never told him he had a right to a speedy trial. App. 212, ll.

2 – 13. Petitioner testified that the delay prejudiced him because Hill died. App. 213, ll. 1 – 8. He was finally tried on December 11, 2006, approximately two years from the time he was arrested. App. 1.

Discussion

The PCR court erred in finding that petitioner suffered no prejudice from the delay of his trial. App. 277-78. The right to a speedy trial is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 515 (1972). “A defendant has no duty to bring himself to trial.” Barker at 527. When considering a speedy trial violation on direct review, a court must consider the length of the delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant’s assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant. Id. at 530. Because this case is on collateral review, the defendant’s assertion of his right intertwines with counsel’s effectiveness. Sires failed to advise petitioner of his rights and Sires thought the case was no longer pending. App. 209, ll. 1 – 9. This failure to communicate with petitioner and preserve his defense constitutes deficient performance.

Sires’ failure also prevented trial counsel from asserting any speedy trial claim. App. 238, ll. 18 – 24. Trial counsel testified that he saw no invocation of a speedy trial right in the file. App. 238, l. 25 – 239, l. 2. Trial counsel also seemed to indicate that he did not think speedy trial motions were worth filing. App. 239, ll. 4 – 7.

The delay in this case was approximately two years. A delay of more than a year is presumptively prejudicial and triggers the Barker inquiry. Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 652 n.1 (1992). See also State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978) (finding delay of two years and four months triggered Barker). The State offered no reason for the delay at the PCR hearing.