STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

CERTIORIA TO OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

NOV - 7 2014

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. ~~2008 CP 37-1471~~

2013-002380

Clarence Crittendon, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 100793

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Is Certiorari necessary to review whether the PCR Judge erred in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove counsel was purportedly ineffective for failing to investigate and present Timothy Crittendon as a defense witness at trial?
2. Is Certiorari necessary to review whether the PCR Judge erred in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove counsel was purportedly ineffective for failing to make a motion for a speedy trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent adopts Petitioner's statement of the case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I.

Certiorari is not warranted where ample probative evidence supports the PCR Judge's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present Timothy Crittendon as a witness at trial.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified he listed Timothy Crittendon as a potential trial witness to counsel. App.p.213. Timothy Crittendon testified at the PCR that he witnessed several ladies threaten Petitioner. App.pp.226-27. He testified he witnessed a woman named "Sheka" tell Petitioner "you got thirty days to leave. If you don't leave in thirty days, then you ain't gonna like what I'm gonna do." App.p.227, ln.21-24. "Sheka" also told Petitioner, "I'm tired of you treating me like this. You gonna leave my mama." App.p.227, ln.7-8.

Counsel testified to his course of conduct during the representation. App.p.230. Counsel testified Petitioner provided him with Timothy Crittendon's name and contact

information. App.p.231. He told counsel that Timothy Crittendon witnessed incidents that showed the victim's allegations were made in retaliation for a domestic dispute. App.p.231. Counsel made numerous unsuccessful attempts to contact Timothy Crittendon. App.p.237. He located the witness on the eve of trial. App.p.237. Counsel did not find the Timothy Crittendon to be a credible witness. Timothy Crittendon was incarcerated in Corrections with a substantial criminal record at the time of trial. App.p.231. Counsel testified that Applicant's main defense was that the ten year old victim would not take the stand against him. Applicant also had a lengthy criminal record and was a sex offender. He noted that the victim gave a credible account in a detailed and graphic written statement to the police concerning the Petitioner's brutality. App.p.236.

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge noted that Timothy Crittendon's testimony was unconvincing to Petitioner's theory that he was "set up." App.p.279.

Effective Assistance of Counsel

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability

sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

“This Court has stated previously that criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011)

Discussion

The PCR judge made a sound finding here. Timothy Crittendon witnessed a confrontation that concerned Petitioner sexually abusing the child-victim. Timothy Crittendon testified [the child-victim] made the statement “I’m tired of you treating me like this. You gonna leave my mama.” to Petitioner. App.p.227, ln.7-8. Certainly counsel did not render deficient performance for not to present a witness that would have offered inculpatory testimony against Petitioner. The witness notably did not offer testimony that confrontation was a result of anything other than the brutal sexual assault of a child. Therefore, the ‘mere speculation and conjecture on the part of a defendant in PCR is insufficient.” Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999).

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance.

II.

Certiorari is not warranted where ample probative evidence supports the PCR Judge's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove that counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion for a speedy trial.

Not only was Petitioner's allegation here fatally speculative, it was facially absurd. The entire impetus of the allegation is that a potential adverse trial witness died while the case purportedly "languished" in General Sessions Court. Petitioner testified that Sarah Hill, the maternal grandmother of the child victim, died during the pendency of Petitioner's case and thereby was unavailable to testify at trial. App.p.213. Incredibly, Petitioner presents this argument to this Court under the presumption that the grandmother of the child victim would have somehow testified in a beneficial manner to Petitioner's case after Petitioner raped her granddaughter and destroyed her daughter's family. The presumption here is illogical, fallacious and without any other evidentiary support. Thus, the State submits that further discussion on the matter is an affront to judicial economy. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance.

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues discussed above.